# CHARACTERIZATION OF BIOLOGICAL FUNCTION OF INTERACTION BETWEEN TLR4 AND PLIC-1

by

## Nabanita Biswas

BSc, Calcutta University, 2000

MSc, Calcutta University, 2002

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

Graduate School of Public Health in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

University of Pittsburgh

2006

### UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

### GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

this thesis was presented

by

# Nabanita Biswas

It was defended on

### December 15, 2006

and approved by Thesis advisor Tianyi Wang, PhD Assistant Professor Department of Infectious Diseases and Microbiology Graduate School of Public Health University of Pittsburgh

Jeremy Martinson, PhD Assistant Professor Department of Infectious Diseases and Microbiology Graduate School of Public Health University of Pittsburgh

> David J Hackam , MD, PhD Assistant Professor Department of Surgery School of Medicine University of Pittsburgh

> > ii

Copyright © by Nabanita Biswas

2006

# CHARACTERIZATION OF BIOLOGICAL FUNCTION OF INTERACTION BETWEEN TLR4 AND PLIC-1

#### Nabanita Biswas, MS

#### University of Pittsburgh, 2006

Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are key innate immune receptors that recognize non-self pathogens and trigger host responses. Activation of these receptors results in the release of antimicrobial peptides, inflammatory cytokines, and co stimulatory molecules that initiate adaptive immunity. For infections with gram-negative bacteria, lipopolysaccharide is the main source of inflammation, and toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) is crucial in mediating its effects. TLR4 is expressed on cardiomyocytes, macrophages, airway epithelia, endothelial, smooth-muscle cells and in small amounts in most other tissue. But, uncontrolled activation of TLR signaling molecules may cause auto immune diseases, sepsis, and tissue damage so the activation of TLR4 should be under control. Ubiquitin-dependent receptor degradation as well as stabilization was recently suggested as a novel regulatory mechanism in controlling several TLR activations. We have recently found that an ubiquitin-like protein named protein linking integrin associated protein to cytoskeleton 1 (PLIC-1) interacts with the cytoplasmic domain of TLR4. The interaction between TLR4 and PLIC-1 was verified by western blot and immunoprecipitation. Further mapping of the interacting domain was done and we observed that the N terminal fragment of PLIC-1 is interacting with TLR4. PLIC-1 has been reported to stabilize proteins by interfering with proteosomal degradation. Consistent with this finding, we observed that over expression of PLIC-1 accumulated ubiquitinated TLR4. By flow cytometric analysis we observed that over expression of PLIC-1 is stabilizing TLR4. Reporter studies show that PLIC-1

inhibits the TRIF-dependent IFN- $\beta$  pathway. When endogenous PLIC-1 was knocked down by RNAi, the activation of TRIF-dependent IFN- $\beta$  luc was further increased. The same effect was observed in J774 mouse macrophages. Taken together our results suggest that PLIC-1 is a negative regulator of TLR pathway. This knowledge may be applied in immunotherapy as a means to modulate TLR activation in diseases such as septic shock, thus provides benefit for public health.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	ACK	NOWLEDGEMENT	X
1.0	INTR	ODUCTION	1-10
	1.1	Toll Like Receptors	1
	1.2	Toll Like Receptor 4 (TLR4)	2
	1.3	TLR4 signaling pathway	4
	1.4	Why Toll Like Receptors are important	7
	1.5	Negative regulation of Toll signaling	8
	1.6	Protein Linking Integrin associated protein to Cytoskeliton-1 (PLIC-1)	9
	1.7	General biology of ubiquitin and ubiquitin like proteins	9
2.0	MATI	ERIALS AND METHODS	11-15
	2.1	Cell lines and reagents	11
	2.2	Plasmids	11
	2.3	293T transient transfection	11
	2.4	J774 cells transfection	12
	2.5	Immunoprecipitation and Western Blot	12
	2.6	Generation of stable 293T cells expressing Flag tagged TLR4	13
	2.7	Reporter assay	13
	2.8	Antibody used	14

2.9 Flow Analysis14
3.0 RESULTS
3.1 Aim 1 Results
3.1.1 Biochemical study of the interaction of TLR4 and PLIC-116
3.1.2 Structure of PLIC-1
3.1.3 Domain mapping study19
3.1.4 The effect of ubiquitination of overexpression of PLIC-1 on the ubiquitination
of TLR420
3.1.5 The effect of overexpression of PLIC-1 on the ubiquitination of TLR421
3.1.6 The effect of PLIC-1 on TLR4 by flow analysis
3.2 Aim 2 Results
3.2.1 Effect of NS3/4A, PLIC-1 and Sars 3C protease in TRIF dependent
signaling pathways
3.2.2 Over expression of PLIC-1 on the TRIF dependent IFN-β pathway25
3.2.3 The effect of overexpression of PLIC-1 on the TRIF dependent $\kappa B$ activation27
3.2.4 Effect of PLIC-1 on TRIF by Flow analysis
3.3 Aim 3 Results
3.3.1 RNAi vector and sequence
3.3.2 Working RNAi against human PLIC-1 and the working dose of RNAi required32
3.3.3 Effect due to the knockdown of endogenous PLIC-1 in TRIF dependent
signaling pathways
3.3.4 Effect of PLIC-1 in TRIF-dependent TLR3 signaling pathways

3.3.	5 The effect of overexpression of PLIC-1 on the TRIF-dependent	
	IFN-β pathway in macrophages	
4.0 DISCU	JSSION	
5.0 FUTU	IRE WORK	40
BIBL	IOGRAPHY	41-45

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Ligands of different Toll Like receptors (TLRs)	2
Figure 2:Toll Like Receptor (TLR4)	3
Figure 3: TLR4 signaling pathway	6
Figure 4: Association of polymorphisms of TLR signaling molecule with human diseases	8
Figure 5: Polyubiquitination mediated proteolysis	10
Figure 6: Interaction of TLR4 with PLIC-1	17
Figure 7: Structure of PLIC-1	18
Figure 8: Domain mapping study	19
Figure 9: The effect of ubiquitination on over expression of PLIC-1 on TLR4	20
Figure 10: The effect of ubiquitination on over expression of PLIC-1 on TLR4	21
Figure 11: The effect PLIC-1 on TLR4 by flow analysis	22
Figure 12: Effect of NS3/4A, PLIC-1 and Sars 3C protease in TRIF dependent signaling pathways.	25
Figure 13: Over expression of PLIC-1 on the TRIF dependent IFN-β pathway	26
Figure 14: Over expression of PLIC-1 on TRIF dependent kB activation	27
Figure 15A: The effect PLIC-1 on TRIF by Flow analysis	28
Figure 15B: The effect TRIAD3A on TRIF by Flow analysis	29
Figure 16: RNAi vector and sequence	30
Figure17: Working RNAi against PLIC-1 and the working dose for the RNAi	32

Figure 18: Effect due to knockdown of endogenous PLIC-1 in TRIF dependentsignaling pathways	33
Figure 19: Effect of PLIC-1 in TRIF dependent TLR3 signaling pathways	34
Figure 20: In macrophage overexpression of PLIC-1 and the effect on IFN $\beta$ -luc pathway	36

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to thank my PI Dr. Tianyi Wang for his support, encouragement and scientific direction over the past few years. I would like to thank my committee members Dr. Jeremy Martinson and Dr. David Hackam for their time and efforts on the completion of this dissertation. I would like to thank Dr. Gupta for helping me to be in this department and always advising me regarding both scientific and non-scientific issues. Thanks Dr. Gupta for being so influential in my life.

I would like to extend my appreciation to my co-worker Chao and friends Jay, Jess, Milka, Nitin, Poonam, Laura, Allison, Lance, Amar and Sudeshna who provided scientific support as well as encouragement, and most of all friendship. I would like to thank my dearest friend Anirban who has always stood by me in good times and bad. I would like to thank all the members in Dr. Gupta's lab for helping me all the time and the faculty and the staff in the IDM department.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents and sister for their love and constant encouragement. With all their love and support it was easier for me to achieve this goal. Thank you all, but most of all, thank you Maa for always being with me. All my accomplishments to date have been achieved as a result of her unconditional support.

#### **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Toll Like Receptors:

The immune system of vertebrates can be divided into two categories: the innate immune system and the adaptive immune system. The innate immune system exists to provide early defense against pathogen attack and to alert the adaptive immune system to the fact that pathogen invasion has begun. Toll like receptors (TLRs) are critical innate immune receptors that recognize microbial pathogen and trigger the first line of host defense [1-5]. The name Toll appeared in the literature in the early 1980s and was given to one of the mutants found in a Drosophila genetic screen. It was first described as an essential molecule involved in fly development. It was shown by Lemaitre et al that mutant Drosophila carrying loss-of-function mutation in the Toll receptor results in high susceptibility to fungal infection [6]. To date 10 different TLRs have been identified in humans and 13 in mice [7]. Toll like receptors are critical innate immune receptors that recognize microbial pathogens and trigger the first line of host defense. They are mainly expressed on antigen-presenting cells, such as macrophages or dendritic cells, and their signaling activates antigen-presenting cells to provoke innate immunity and to establish adaptive immunity [8]. Different Toll like receptors recognize different molecular patterns in pathogen, showing that they have different ligands. TLR1, TLR2 and TLR6 recognize various bacterial components like peptidoglycan, lipopeptide, and lipoprotein of Gram positive bacteria [9-13]. During replication in the host many viruses produce double

stranded RNA which is recognized by TLR3 [14]. LPS of Gram negative bacteria are recognized by TLR4 [15]. TLR5 recognizes bacterial flagellin [16] and TLR7 recognizes synthetic imidazoquinoline-like molecules, guanosine analogs such as loxoribine, and single stranded RNA (ssRNA) derived from human immunodeficiency virus type-1 (HIV-1) [17-19]. TLR9 functions as a receptor for bacterial DNA containing CpG motifs [20-21].



## 1.2 Toll Like Receptor 4 (TLR4):

Toll Like receptor (TLR4) is well known for its sensitivity to Bacterial Lipopolysaccharide (LPS). LPS is found in Gram negative bacteria and is a potent activator of the innate immune response in humans. Bacterial LPS is a cell-wall component of gram-negative bacteria that has the ability to induce a dramatic systemic reaction known as septic shock. LPS-binding protein

(LBP), and the receptor protein CD14, binds to LBP-bound LPS. Both LBP and CD14 carry leucine-rich repeat motifs [22]. When TLR4 binds to CD14 complexed with its LBP:LPS ligand, recognition of LPS occurs largely by the mammalian LPS receptor — the TLR4–MD2–CD14 complex — which is present on many cell types including macrophages and dendritic cells [23-24]. CD14 concentrates LPS for binding to the TLR4–MD2 complex. TLR4 recruits some adapter protein molecules in the cytoplasm, which eventually activates the transcription factor NF $\kappa$ B and inflammatory cytokines like IFN- $\beta$  in the nucleus.



#### 1.3 TLR4 signaling pathway:

#### MyD88-dependent pathway:

Toll like receptors recognize pathogen and initiate immune response to eliminate invading pathogens. A key structural motif which is involved in the signal transduction is the Toll/IL-1 receptor (TIR) domain [25]. The extra cellular domain of the Toll Like Receptor structure, rich in leucine residues is termed the leucine-rich repeat and is involved in ligand recognition [26]. The intracellular region contains a structure common to TLR and IL-1 receptor family members, called the Toll/IL-1 receptor homologous (TIR) domain, which is essential for signal transduction. The proximal events of TLR-mediated intracellular signaling are initiated by TIRdomain-dependent heterophilic interactions with TIR-domain-containing cytosolic adapters such as myeloid differentiation primary response protein 88 (MyD88). MyD88 was first found to be critical for TLR signaling [27]. MyD88 has death and TIR domains at its N- and C-terminal portions, respectively. The TIR domain is involved in interaction with TLRs, and the death domain recruits IL-1 receptor- associated kinase (IRAK) family members [28]. The association of TLRs and MyD88 recruits members of the interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase (IRAK) family. So far, four IRAKs are identified: IRAK1, IRAK2, IRAK4 and IRAK-M. IRAK1 and IRAK4 possess intrinsic serine/threonine protein kinase activities, but IRAK2 and IRAK-M lack this activity, IRAK-M deficient cells consistently show hyperproduction of inflammatory cytokines in response to various TLR ligands [29]. MyD88 activates the serine/threonine IRAK kinases IRAK1 and IRAK4. The IRAKs then enable the recruitment and activation of tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF-6), a RING-domain ubiquitin ligase that activates the TAK1 kinase through polyubiquitination [30]. TAK1 in turn activates the IKK complex, which phosphorylates IkBs (NF-kB inhibitors) and targets them for ubiquitination and

subsequent degradation. This releases NF- $\kappa$ B, which moves to the nucleus and regulates its target genes, including those that encode proinflammatory cytokines [31].

MyD88-independent pathway:

The MyD88-independent pathway was first revealed by the retained response of MyD88deficient mice to LPS. TLR4 signaling can activate NF- $\kappa$ B and MAPKs in MyD88-deficient cells [32]. These delayed responses fail to induce gene expression of inflammatory cytokines but are sufficient for DC maturation, or expression of IFN- $\beta$  and IFN-inducible genes. IFN- $\beta$  gene expression requires IRF-3 activation, which is detected in LPS activated MyD88-deficient macrophages. TLR4 requires another adapter protein which is TRIF related adapter molecule and also known as TICAM-2, for the association with TRIF. TRIF can interact with the I $\kappa$ B kinases IKKe and TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1). IRF-3 is phosphorylated by these kinases, translocates to the nucleus, and induces several target genes, including IFN- $\beta$ . TRIF can also lead to NF- $\kappa$ B activation through TRAF6 [33]. Furthermore, TRIF can also interact with receptorinteracting protein (RIP) 1 through an RIP homotypic interaction motif. This interaction is also critical for NF- $\kappa$ B activation. NF- $\kappa$ B activation leads to the expression of IFN- $\beta$  and inflammatory cytokines.



#### 1.4 Why Toll Like Receptors are important:

Studies of people with specific polymorphisms in genes encoding TLRs or their downstream signaling molecules can elucidate relationships between TLR signaling and human disease. Until now the best-studied TLR polymorphism is an amino acid substitution, from aspartic acid to glycine at position 299 (D299G), in TLR4 [34]. This polymorphism causes decreased airway response to inhaled bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in humans and a corresponding decreased signaling response to LPS. Sepsis and its most severe form, septic shock, represent a syndrome associated with bacterial infection caused by Gram negative bacteria. Because TLR4 is required for the innate immune response to Gram-negative LPS in mice, several groups have studied the effect of the D299G polymorphism on humans at risk for sepsis. This also causes Gram-negative infections [35] and systemic inflammatory syndrome [36]. Polymorphisms in IRAK-4 are also associated with impaired responses to bacterial infection. These polymorphisms include singlenucleotide changes that encode stop codons at amino acid positions 287 and 293 of IRAK-4. Children homozygous for these polymorphisms have recurrent infections, caused mostly by the Gram-positive bacteria Streptococcus pneumoniae and Staphylococcus aureus [37]. Mutations in the gene encoding NEMO give rise to anhidrotic extodermal dysplasia with immunodeficiency. Patients with this disease present with sparse hair, anhidrosis and severe bacterial infections [38]. It was also observed by Kiechl et al that polymorphisms in human TLR4 might facilitate these genetic approaches, particularly for cardiovascular disease. Thus, the D299G polymorphism is associated with a reduced risk for carotid artery atherosclerosis [39].



#### 1.5 Negative regulation of Toll signaling:

Several regulatory mechanisms that seem to control TLR signaling have been described. It was shown that IRAK-M prevents the dissociation of IRAK4 and IRAK1 from MyD88. In response to stimuli, IRAK4 and IRAK1 are sequentially phosphorylated, which results in activation of tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6) [40]. TRAF6 activates transforming growth factor-β-activated protein kinase 1 (TAK1), a member of the MAP kinase kinase kinase (MAP3K) family, in a ubiquitin-dependent manner. TAK1 activates the IKK complex that leads

to NF-κB activation. Thus IRAKM here functions as a negative regulator of the Toll signal pathway. Production of inflammatory cytokines in response to various TLR ligands is ablated in IRAK4-deficient mice. Recently it was found that Triad3A, an E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase enhances ubiquitination and proteolytic degradation of some TLRs [41]. The soluble form of orphan receptor ST2 (also known as T1) binds directly to myeloid lineage cells and downregulates expression of TLR1 and TLR4 [42].

#### 1.6 Protein Linking Integrin associated protein to Cytoskeleton 1 (PLIC-1):

PLIC-1 is a type 2 Ubl (Ubiquitin like) protein which has a wide variety of cellular functions. It inhibits the cell cycle to stabilize plasma membrane proteins and also to rearrange the cytoskeleton [43]. There are four members of PLIC-1 in mouse and human. The PLIC proteins belong to a family of proteins that contain an ubiquitin-like (ubl) domain as an integral part of their open reading frame [44]. As reported by Tanaka, et al in 1998, ubiquitin-like (ubl) proteins can be subdivided into two general classes; small-sized type 1 ubl proteins that are covalently linked to target proteins in a fashion similar to ubiquitin, and type 2 ubl proteins that are not ligated to other proteins and whose functions are not yet well understood [45]. hPLIC-1 and hPLIC-2 are examples of type 2 ubl proteins. Functional data suggest a role for the hPLIC proteins in the *in vivo* degradation of several proteins known to be ubiquitination-dependent substrates of the proteasome [46].

### 1.7 General biology of ubiquitin and ubiquitin like proteins:

Ubiquitin is a 76 amino acid globular protein that is nearly identical throughout eukaryotes [47]. Ubiquitination, the process of conjugating ubiquitins to other proteins is fundamental for degradation of protein whose level is regulated either constitutively or in response with external stimuli [48]. The enzymes involved in ubiquitination have been extensively studied and reviewed. Ubiquitin is first activated by ubiquitin activating enzyme known as enzyme 1 or E1 and then transferred to a ubiquitin conjugated enzyme, Ubc or E2 that together with a ubiquitin protein ligase E3, covalently attaches ubiquitin to the target protein at the amino acid group of a lysine residue [49]. The polyubiquitin chain is elongated by E2 and E3, sometimes with the help of accessory factor E4. By forming peptide bonds between the C-terminal glycine of ubiquitin and the lysyl amino group of the ubiquitin that has previously been added to the chain, polyubiquitination signals the 26S proteosome to degrade the ubiquitylated proteins[50]. It was reported that PLIC-1 inhibits the degradation of ubiquitinated protein and from the experiments we performed it was clear that PLIC-1 is accumulate more ubiquitinated protein including TLR4.



#### 2.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 Cell Lines and reagents:

The 293T cell line ATCC CRL-11268 was cultured in DMEM (Invitrogen Life Technologies) supplemented with 10% FBS (HyClone), 1% penicillin, and 10 µg/ml streptomycin. The mouse macrophage cell line J774 was a generous gift from Dr David Hackam (University of Pittsburgh School Of Medicine, Department Of Surgery, Pittsburgh PA).

#### 2.2 Plasmids:

PLIC-1 N terminal and PLIC-2 full length plasmid was a kind gift from the Howley lab (Boston). The IFN NF-κB LUC plasmid was obtained from Drs. J. Pomerantz and M. Boldin (Caltech, Pasadena, CA).YFP-TLR4, Flag-TLR4, HA-PLIC-1, YFP-PLIC-1, Flag PLIC-1, Fc-TLR4 and MIR-DFT-empty plasmid, YFP TRIF, Flag TRIF plasmids were constructed in the lab. Myc Triad3A and YFP Triad3A plasmids were a kind gift from Dr. Ulevitch lab, Scripps Research Institute, San Diego. pCL-10A1 which is a retrovirus packaging vector was obtained from IMGENEX. RNAi constructs targeting human endogenous PLIC-1, 1602, 733, 819 and LMP PLIC-1 and RNAi targeting mouse endogenous PLIC-1, m LMP were constructed in the lab previously.

#### 2.3 293T Transient transfection:

Transfection was done with Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen Life Technologies) transfecting reagent and the amount of plasmid indicated. Plasmids and media (amount depending on the size of the well) was mixed together, and lipofectamine 2000 (double the amount of plasmid) was mixed with media in a separate tube. Then media containing plasmid and media containing

lipofectamine was mixed together, allowed to sit for 15-20 minutes at room temperature, and added slowly to the well. After 16-18 hours the media was replaced with fresh media.

#### 2.4 J774 Cell Transfection:

J774 macrophages were transfected according to AfCS (Alliance for Cellular Signaling gateway) protocol of *Transfection of Raw Cells*. 1 x  $10^5$  cells/ml were plated the day before transfection was performed. Most of the reporter assay with J774 cells was done in 24 well plates. For each transfection, 1µl Lipofectamine 2000 was added to 25 µl Opti-MEM in a 1.8-ml Eppendorf tube. In another tube the required amount of plasmid was added, mixed, and allowed to sit for 5 min at room temperature. Then, 25 µl DNA mixtures was added to the 25 µl Lipofectamine 2000 mixture and mixed by tapping or pipetting. This mixture was incubated for 20 min at room temperature. RAWGM1 was added to each well to cover the surface and the plasmid/lipofectamine media was then added. After 3 hours the media was changed and replaced with fresh RAWGM1 media.

RAWGM1 media composition: for 500 ml

DMEM	435 ml	Final concentration 0.87X
FBS	50ml	Final concentration 10%
HEPES	10ml	Final concentration 20mM
L-Glutamine	5ml	Final concentration 2mM

## 2.5 Immunoprecipitation and Western Blot:

Unless indicated otherwise, we typically transfected 6–10 million 293T cells with the plasmids indicated, using the Lipofectamine 2000 method. Forty-eight hours after transfection, cells were

lysed using a lysis buffer. A quantity of  $50-100 \mu g$  of total soluble extract was incubated with an appropriate amount of beads conjugated with the specified antibody for 2 h at 4°C. Alternatively, the antibody used for IP was added and kept in a rotating condition for 3-4 hrs and then Agarose A beads were added and incubated overnight. Next day, after washing, the bound proteins were eluted and then separated using SDS-PAGE. The proteins were then transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (Biorad) and incubated with the specified primary antibody followed by incubation with a secondary antibody conjugated with horseradish peroxidase. The ECL substrate was then added and the blot was developed.

Lysis Buffer: 5mM p Nitrophenyl phosphate, 1% NP-40, 1mM Sodium orthovanadate, 20mM βglycerophosphate, 1.5mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 150mM NaCl, 50 mM HEPES pH-7.9.

#### 2.6 Generation of stable 293T cells expressing Flag tagged TLR4:

Ten million 293T cells were transfected with 3µg pCL-10A1 and 3µg pMIR-DFT-TLR4 with Lipofectamine 2000. pCl-10A1 is a packaging vector which is used to maximize recombinant retrovirus titers in experimental systems. 48 hrs after transfection virus was collected from the filtered supernatant and spin infection was performed in 293T cells for 90 minutes in presence of 8mg/ml polybrene and 1mM HEPES pH 7.55. The medium was changed after every 2 days and puromycine 1µg/ml was added to select the stable cells. After 2 weeks cells were transfected with required DNA to perform Western Blot and Immunoprecipitation.

### 2.7 Reporter assay:

For the luciferase reporter assay, 0.25 million 293T cells/well were seeded on 24-well plates. The next day, cells were transfected with Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen Life Technologies) according to the manufacturer's instructions. A prespecified amount of DNA was added into each

transfection and pcDNA3 DFT empty plasmid was used as filler DNA. When indicated, cells were treated with various stimuli for the specified time. Cells were harvested between 24 and 48 hrs after transfection and luciferase activity was measured using the Luciferase Assay System (Promega). Cells were plated in 24-well plates and transfected with 0.1  $\mu$ g of IFN- $\beta$  luc, 0.1  $\mu$ g  $\kappa\beta$  –luc and 0.05  $\mu$ g Renilla luciferase as internal control. Twenty-four hours later, the cells were treated with 0.2  $\mu$ g/ml LPS, or 40  $\mu$ g/ml Poly I:C, for 12-16 hrs. The cells were lysed, and luciferase activities were determined using reagent from Promega. The data presented are the mean  $\pm$  the standard deviation (SD).

#### 2.8 Antibody used:

Antibody to Flag (anti-FLAG) and anti flag beads for IP, anti-HA and anti-β-actin were purchased from Sigma. Anti GFP and Poly(I:C) were purchased from Invitrogen. MG-132 was purchased from Sigma.

# 2.9 Flow Analysis:

Cells were transfected with YFP-TLR4 and YFP-TRIF plasmid, and also with different concentrations of PLIC-1 and TRIAD 3A plasmid, before the expression of TLR4 and TRIF was observed by flow cytometry. 48 hours after transfection, cells were washed twice with cold PBS and fixed with 10% paraformaldehyde. Flow analysis was done in Epics-XL (Beckman Coulter, Miami, FL) and the data was analyzed with FlowJo software.

# 3.0 RESULTS

We hypothesized that the PLIC-1 may have a role in the TLR4 signaling pathway. To prove this hypothesis, our objectives were :

AIM 1: Biochemical study of the interaction of TLR4 with PLIC-1.

AIM 2: Biological function of the interaction of TLR4 with PLIC-1 in an over expression system.

AIM 3: Biological function of the interaction of TLR4 with PLIC-1 in loss of function study.

### 3.1 Aim 1 Results

The results are presented in three sections. Section I describes the biochemical study of the interaction of TLR4 and PLIC-1.

#### 3.1.1 <u>Biochemical study of the interaction of TLR4 and PLIC-1:</u>

Since the interaction of PLIC-1 with the intracellular part of TLR4 has already been confirmed by Yeast Two-hybrid methods, the validation of this interaction was performed by coimmunoprecipitation. As the expression of TLR4 in transient transfection tends to form aggregates and the expression level is also low, a stable cell line based on the cell line 293T was generated expressing Flag-TLR4. To generate this stable cell line 293T cells were transfected with retroviral construct pLC-10A1 and cells were further selected in presence of the antibiotic puromycine. 293T cells stably expressing Flag-TLR4 were transfected with increased concentrations of PLIC-1. The stable line was transfected with 1µg and 5µg of HA-PLIC-1, and IP was subsequently done against anti Flag to pull down Flag-TLR4 and western blot was conducted against Flag antibody (Sigma, 1:500 dilution) to detect pulled-down Flag -TLR4. The same blot was stripped and probed against HA antibody to detect the expression of PLIC-1. Fig 1A shows the IP to pull down TLR4, and Fig 1B shows HA PLIC-1 co-precipitated with TLR4, indicating an interaction between TLR4 and PLIC-1



# 3.1.2 <u>Structure of PLIC-1:</u>

All members of PLIC-1 have an amino terminal Ubiquitin-like domain (Ubl) and carboxy terminal ubiquitin associated domain (Uba) as well as two internal repeats of ~85 amino acids that contain *Sti* I motifs. PLIC-1 is known to bind to membrane proteins including presenilins and GABA receptors. PLIC-1 showed a predominantly cytoplasmic localization. The Uba domain of PLIC-1 was reported to bind with ubiquitylated proteins while the Ubl domains bind ubiquitin ligases like E6AP and  $\beta$ TRCP, and proteosome subunits. These interactions are thought to interfere with normal targeting of proteins for proteosome-dependent-degradation, resulting in enhanced stability potential affecting the signaling pathways in which these proteins are involved



## 3.1.3 <u>Domain mapping study:</u>

A domain mapping experiment was performed to determine which domain of PLIC-1 is interacting with TLR4. 293T cells were transfected with 5µg YFP-TLR4 and 5µg of N terminal PLIC-1 (4459), full length PLIC-2 (4456) construct, and with full length Flag-PLIC-1 and YFP-TLR4. The expression of flag construct was observed in the input against Flag antibody (Fig A). The pulled-down YFP-TLR4 was observed but when the same blot was stripped against Flag it shows that (Fig C) N terminal of PLIC-1 interacts with TLR4.



# 3.1.4 <u>The effect of ubiquitination of overexpression of PLIC-1 on the ubiquitination of TLR4:</u>

To analyze whether PLIC-1 modulates the expression of TLR4, cells were transfected with hFc TLR4, HA tagged ubiquitin and with YFP-PLIC-1. HA ubiquitin will be eventually incorporated in all ubiquitinated protein including TLR4. 50µM MG132 was added after 40 hrs of transfection and kept for 6 hrs. MG132 is an inhibitor of proteoseome dependent degradation of proteins which block degradation of polyubiquitinated protein. So in presence of polyubiquitinated protein MG132 will accumulate more ubiquitinated protein which will be easily detectectable by Western blot method against anti HA antibody. After 6 hrs, cells were lysed and western blot was performed against HA antibody with the total cell lysate. It was observed that overexpression of PLIC-1 accumulated more ubiquitinated protein including TLR4. Lane 1 and 2 shows that where HA-UB is absent, no ubiquitinated band was observed. Lane 3 was compared with lane 5. In lane 5 more accumulation of ubiquitinated protein was observed due to the presence of PLIC-1. Lane 4 was compared with lane 6 where the same phenomenon was observed in presence of MG132 that overexpression of PLIC-1 accumulating more ubiquitinated protein including TLR4.



#### 3.1.5 The effect of overexpression of PLIC-1 on the ubiquitination of TLR4:

To analyze the effect of overexpression of PLIC-1 on the ubiquitination of TLR4, 293T cells were transfected with YFP-TLR4, HA tagged ubiquitin and FLAG tagged PLIC-1. MG132 was added after 40 hrs of transfection and kept for 6 hrs. After 6 hrs cells were lysed and IP was performed against GFP, and western blot was done against HA antibody. Western blot was done against the IP product as well as total cell lysate. IP was done against the samples where MG132 was added as MG132 will accumulate more ubiquitinated protein which will be easily detectectable by Western blot method against anti HA antibody. But in case of whole cell lysate Western Blot was performed against sample where MG132 is present as well as well as absent. In case of IP (left figure) lane 1 was compared with lane 2 where it was observed that overexpression of PLIC-1 accumulated more ubiquitinated TLR4. TRIAD3A is a positive control and it is known that overexpression of TRIAD3A accumulates more ubiquitinated TLR4. In case it was observed that overexpression of PLIC-1 accumulated more ubiquitinated more ubiquitinated TLR4. In each case it was observed that overexpression of PLIC-1 accumulated protein of PLIC-1 accumulated more ubiquitinated protein ubiquitinated TLR4.

	1	2	3	4	5		10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1
YFP TLR4	+	+	+	+	+	YFP TLR4	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
HAUB	-	+	+	+	+	HAUB	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
FLAG PLIC-1	-	-	+	+	-	FLAG PLIC-1	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-
FlagTRIAD 3A	-	-	-	-	+	FlagTRIAD 3A	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
MD2	-	-	-	+	-	MD2	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
MG132	+	+	+	+	+	MG132	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	_
YFP TLR4 FLAG PLIC-1 P : α GFP WB : α HA		1	-			YFP TLR4 FLAG PLIC-1 Whole cell lysate WB : α HA				-		1	1			
Fig 10: The	eff	ect	t of	ub	iquiti	nation on overe	xpr	ess	ion	ı of	f P	LI	C-	1 0	n [	ΓLI

#### 3.1.6 The effect of PLIC-1 on TLR4 by flow analysis:

Flow analysis was performed to analyze the effect of overexpression of PLIC-1 on TLR4. 293T cells were transfected with 0.5ug YFP-TLR4 and 0.1, 0.2, 0.4, or 0.8µg of PLIC-1. 293T cells without any transfected DNA was used as negative control. It was observed that in presence of increasing amounts of PLIC-1 the expression of TLR4 was also increased. So overexpression of PLIC-1 is stabilizing TLR4.



**Fig11: The effect of PLIC-1 on TLR4.** Cells were transfected with 1µg of YFP TLR4 and different concentrations of PLIC-1. Flow analysis was done to determine the expression of YFP TLR4 in presence of PLIC-1.

# 3.2 Aim 2 Results

AIM 1: Biochemical study of the interaction of TLR4 with PLIC-1. AIM 2: Biological function of the interaction of TLR4 with PLIC-1 in an over expression system.

AIM 3: Biological function of the interaction of TLR4 with PLIC-1 in loss of function study.

# 3.2.1. Effect of NS3/4A, PLIC-1 and Sars 3C protease in TRIF dependent signaling pathways:

Akira et al (2001) reported that TLRs activate the transcription factors NF-kB and AP1, leading to production of inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and upregulation of the co-stimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 on dendritic cells (DCs)[48]. Yamamoto (2002)[51] identified a novel TIR domain-containing molecule, named TIR domaincontaining adapter (TRIF), and also showed that, like MyD88 and TIRAP, overexpression of TRIF activated the NF-κβ-dependent promoter. Several reporter assays were performed to find out the function of PLIC-1 on TRIF dependent signaling. In the first experiment 293T cells were transfected with 0.1µg of IFN- $\beta$  luc reporter construct and 0.5µg of renilla luciferse as internal control. Then cells were also transfected with 0.1µg and 0.2µg NS3/4A (HCV protease), Sars 3C protease and PLIC-1. After 24 hrs of transfection, cells were again transfected with 0.5µg of TRIF. After 48 hrs cells were lysed and a reporter assay was performed. It was observed that NS3/4A, which is known to degrade TRIF, inhibited TRIF dependent IFN-β activation in a dose dependent manner. The same result was observed in case of PLIC-1 and Sars 3C protein (Fig 12 A). To rule out the possibility of promoter interference and squelching effects of between IFN- $\beta$ and PLIC-1, construct cells were transfected with different concentrations of PLIC-1 plasmid and  $0.1\mu g$  of IFN- $\beta$  luc reporter plasmid. After 48 hrs the cells were lysed and a reporter assay was performed. We observed that that in absence of TRIF only PLIC-1 is able to enhance IFN-B luc production (Figure 12B) which rules out the possibility that the inhibition of TRIF dependent IFN-B activation in presence of PLIC-1 is not due to promoter interference or squelching effects.



#### **3.2.2** Over expression of PLIC-1 on the TRIF dependent IFN-β pathway:

To observe the effect of over expression of PLIC-1 in TRIF dependent on IFN- $\beta$  pathway, cells were transfected with 0.1µg of IFN- $\beta$  luc reporter construct and 0.5µg of Renilla luciferase as internal control and 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8 µg of HA-PLIC1 (Figure 13A), YFP-PLIC-1 (Figure 13B) and Flag-PLIC-1 (Figure 13C) and the production of IFN- $\beta$  luc was measured by reporter assay. Cells were transfected with each construct in the same day and after 24 hrs of transfection the cells were again transfected with 0.5µg of TRIF. After 48 hrs cells were lysed and the reporter

assay was performed. It was observed in all three individual cases that the presence of high concentrations of PLIC-1 inhibits IFN- $\beta$  luc. In the case of HA-PLIC-1 with the highest concentration (0.8µg of HA-PLIC-1) of HA- PLIC-1 5 fold inhibition in the production of IFN- $\beta$ , in case of YFP-PLIC-1, 8 fold and in case of Flag PLIC-1 5 fold inhibition was observed. Data was normalized by using renilla luciferase as an internal control.



Fig 13: Overexpression of PLIC-1 on the TRIF dependent IFN- $\beta$  pathway A. cells were transfected with TRIF and different concentrations of PLIC-1 and their effect on IFN- $\beta$ -luc was observed. Cells were first transfected with PLIC-1, and on the second day were transfected with TRIF. TRIF activates IFN- $\beta$  luc but in the presence of high concentration of PLIC-1 IFN- $\beta$  luc is inhibited. Data was normalized by using renilla luciferase as an internal control. PLIC-1 has a negative effect on the TRIF dependent signaling pathway.

#### 3.2.3 The effect of overexpression of PLIC-1 on the TRIF dependent KB activation:

As Yamamoto (2002) showed, like MyD88 and TIRAP, over expression of TRIF activates the NF- $\kappa$ B-dependent promoter. To observe the effect of over expression of PLIC-1 on the TRIF dependent NF- $\kappa$ B pathway, cells were transfected with 0.1µg of  $\kappa$ B luc reporter construct, with 0.5µg of Renilla luciferase as an internal control, and 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, or 0.8µg of YFP-PLIC. Cells were first transfected with PLIC-1 and on the second day were transfected with TRIF. After 48 hrs cells were lysed and the reporter assay was performed. TRIF activates  $\kappa$ B-luc but it was observed that, in the presence of high concentration of PLIC-1, TRIF dependent activated  $\kappa$ B-luc is inhibited.



**Fig 14: Overexpression of PLIC-1 on TRIF dependent \kappa B activation**. Cells were transfected with TRIF, and with different concentrations of PLIC-1 and the effect on  $\kappa B$  luc was observed. TRIF activates  $\kappa B$ -luc but in the presence of high concentrations of PLIC-1 it inhibit TRIF dependent activated  $\kappa B$ -luc

### 3.2.4 Effect of PLIC-1 on TRIF by Flow analysis:

Flow analysis was performed to further support the notion that PLIC-1 is degrading TRIF, and eventually inhibiting the production of IFN- $\beta$ . 293T cells were transfected with 1µg of YFP-TRIF and with 0.5µg, 1µg, 1.5µg or 2µg of HA PLIC-1, and the expression of TRIF was observed by flow analysis. TRIAD3A, which is known to degrade TRIF, was used as a positive control. 293T cells were transfected with 1µg of YFP-TRIF and 0.5µg, 1µg, 1.5µg or 2µg of myc tagged TRIAD3A, and the expression of TRIF was observed by flow analysis. It was observed that increased amount of PLIC-1 decreased TRIF protein.



**Fig 15 A: The effect of PLIC-1 on TRIF.** Cells were transfected with lug of YFP TRIF and different concentration of PLIC-1 and flow analysis was done to determine the expression of YFP TRIF in presence of PLIC-1.



# 3.3 Aim 3 Results

AIM 1: Biochemical study of the interaction of TLR4 with PLIC-1 AIM 2: Biological function of the interaction of TLR4 with PLIC-1 in an over expression system AIM 3: Biological function of the interaction of TLR4 with PLIC-1 in loss of

function study.

#### 3.3.1 RNAi vector and sequence:

RNA interference (RNAi), also known as post transcriptional gene silencing, is mediated by either small interfering RNA (siRNA) or by micro RNA (miRNA). Here, we used different vector based RNAi. In these experiments, RNAi was used to knock down endogenous expression of PLIC-1. The vector backbone of the RNAi, and the position in PLIC-1 it targets, are shown below. The vector has a chloramphenicol selection marker as well as a GFP tag which helps to select the transfected cells and is useful for making stables. Four human RNAi, targeting the positions 1602 and 733, and 819, hLMP and one mouse RNAi targeting endogenous PLIC-1 were tested.



#### 3.3.2 Working RNAi against human PLIC-1 and the working dose of RNAi required:

Western blot analysis was performed to find out which RNAi is working best among the four RNAi against endogenous human PLIC-1, and to determine the minimum concentration of RNAi that is able to knock down endogenous PLIC-1. Cells were transfected with 0.1µg of HA tagged human PLIC-1 and either 0.1µg or 2µg of RNAi 1602, 733, 819, and another RNAi against human PLIC-1, hLMP. After 48 hours cells were lysed and the western blot was performed against anti HA monoclonal antibody. (Fig 17A). RNA I again endogenous mouse PLIC-1 was used as a negative control where 293T cells were transfected with 0.1µg of PLIC-1 and different concentration, (0.1µg, 1µg, 2µg, 3µg, 4µg, and 5µg) of mouse RNAi against endogenous PLIC-1. It was observed that RNAi 819 worked best although 1602 also worked equally well. In the case of 1602, 2ug of the RNAi was able to completely knock down endogenous PLIC-1. Here, mLMP RNAi against endogenous mouse PLIC-1 was used as a negative control and no effect was observed in that case as the PLIC-1 was against human PLIC-1. Data was normalized with endogenous actin to show the loading was equal for each sample.



Fig 17: Working RNAi against PLIC-1 and the working dose required. To find out the best RNAi against PLIC-1, and the working dose, cells were transfected with  $0.1\mu$ g of HA-PLIC1 and then transfected with different concentrations of RNAi. It was observed that RNAi 1602 worked better although 819 worked best and, in these two cases, the RNAi effect was observed even in lower doses. The specificity was determined by transfecting the cells with mLMP PLIC-1 which is specific for mouse. Inhibition was not observed in this case.

# 3.3.3 <u>Effect due to the knockdown of endogenous PLIC-1 in TRIF dependent signaling</u> pathways:

After identifying the optimal RNAi construct and working dose, the effect of knockdown of endogenous PLIC-1 on the TRIF-dependent signaling pathways was determined. 293T cells were transfected with 0.1 $\mu$ g of IFN- $\beta$  luc reporter construct and 0.5 $\mu$ g of Renilla luciferase as internal control, as well as with 0.2, 0.4, and 0.6 $\mu$ g of HA-PLIC1 and 1602 RNAi. Cells were transfected with all of the constructs on the same day. After 24 hrs of transfection the cells were again transfected with 0.1 $\mu$ g of TRIF. After 48 hrs, the cells were lysed and the reporter assay was performed. It was observed that overexpression of PLIC-1 inhibits activation of TRIF dependent IFN- $\beta$  luc, but due to the knock down of endogenous PLIC-1 with RNAi, TRIF-dependent IFN  $\beta$  luc was further induced.



Fig 18: Effect due to knockdown of endogenous PLIC-1 in TRIF dependent signaling pathways. Cells were transfected with differing concentrations of HA-PLIC1 and RNA-I 1602 against PLIC-1. It was observed that overexpression of PLIC-1 inhibits activation of TRIF dependent IFN- $\beta$  luc, but due to the knock down of endogenous PLIC-1 with RNAi, TRIF-dependent IFN  $\beta$  luc was further induced.

### 3.3.4 Effect of PLIC-1 in TRIF-dependent TLR3 signaling pathways:

As TLR3 signaling is TRIF-dependent a reporter assay was performed to determine whether PLIC-1 inhibits TRIF dependent IFN-  $\beta$  production and also to show whether it has any effect on TLR3-associated pathways. 293T cells were transfected with 0.1µg of IFN- $\beta$  luc reporter construct and 0.5µg of Renilla luciferase as internal control, as well as with 0.1µg TLR3 plasmid and RNAi 1602. After 24 hours, cells were stimulated with 40 µg/ml Poly I: C for 16 hours and after 48 hours cells were lysed and reporter assay was performed. It was observed that due to the knock down of endogenous PLIC-1 with RNAi, TRIF-dependent IFN  $\beta$  luc was further induced.



# **3.3.5** <u>The effect of overexpression of PLIC-1 on the TRIF-dependent IFN-β pathway in</u> <u>macrophages</u>:

To observe the effect of PLIC-1 in macrophages, the mouse macrophage J774 was transfected with PLIC-1 and the production of IFN- $\beta$  was analyzed by reporter assay. Cells were transfected with 0.5µg of IFN- $\beta$  luc reporter construct and 0.5µg of Renilla luciferase as internal control, as well as with and 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, and 0.8µg of YFP PLIC-1. After 24 hours cells, were stimulated with poly I:C (40 µg/ml), which is used to stimulate the production of interferon by the immune system. After 48 hrs cells were lysed in 100µl of lysis buffer and reporter assay was performed. All transfections were done in 24 well plates. It was observed that overexpression of PLIC-1 inhibits activation of TRIF dependent IFN- $\beta$  luc.



Fig 20: Overexpression of PLIC-1PLIC-1 in macrophages and its effect on the IFN  $\beta$ -luc pathway. Something is missing here PLIC-1 and the effect on IFN- $\beta$ -luc was observed. After 24 hrs cells were stimulated with Poly I:C. PLIC-1 activates IFN- $\beta$  luc overexpression of PLIC-1 inhibits activation of TRIF dependent IFN- $\beta$  luc. Data was normalized by using renilla luciferase as an internal control.

#### 4.0 DISCUSSION

The PLIC proteins belong to a family of proteins that contain a ubiquitin-like (ubl) domain as an integral part of their open reading frame. Ubiquitin-like (ubl) proteins can be subdivided into two general classes; small-sized type 1 ubl proteins that are covalently linked to target proteins in a fashion similar to ubiquitin, and type 2 ubl proteins that are not ligated to other proteins and whose functions are not yet well understood [52]. This protein is a member of a group of related proteins like PLIC-2. Protein degradation plays an important role in a wide array of cellular events. Eukaryotic cells have evolved two machineries to execute many of the controlled proteolytic events: the ubiquitination machinery and the proteasome. The ubiquitination machinery recognizes and tags specific proteins that are to be destroyed, whereas the proteasome degrades the ubiquitinated substrates. According to Hershko, et al the collaborative action of these two machineries is crucial for a variety of diverse processes including cell cycle progression, development, apoptosis, signal transduction, and antigen presentation [53]. Toll like receptors (TLRs) are critical innate immune receptors that recognize microbial pathogen and trigger the first line of host defense. Several regulatory mechanisms that seem to control TLR signaling have been described, and one of them uses proteins linked to the negative regulation of TLR signaling including IL-1R-associated kinase M (IRAK-M) and the suppression of cytokine signaling [54]. Also, Triad3A acts as an E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase and enhances ubiquitination and proteolytic degradation of some TLRs [55]. Here we used Wedtern blot and

immunoprecipitation to identify PLIC-1 interactions with the cytoplasmic domain of TLR4. After a domain mapping experiment we determined that TLR4 is interacting with the N terminal domain of PLIC-1. Although PLIC-1 has been reported to be involved in protein degradation [56-58], overexpression of PLIC-1 accumulating more ubiquitinated protein including TLR4 and inhibits TLR4 from undergoing proteosomal degradation. As a result flow analysis showed that PLIC-1 stabilizes TLR4. TRIF is the TLR adaptor that characteristically induces IFNtranscription [59-60]. TRIF is a TIR domain-containing adapter protein that is essential for all signaling by TLR3 and some signaling by TLR4. It was also shown that TRIF was the only one that efficiently induced apoptosis when over expressed in 293T cells [61]. It was observed that overexpression of PLIC-1 inhibits activation of TRIF dependent IFN-β luc as well as NF-κB luc. It was already reported by Tsung-Hsien el al that the RING finger protein Triad3A acts as an E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase, and enhances ubiquitination and proteolytic degradation of some TLRs. Triad3A negatively regulates TLR activation [62]. Our use of a reporter assay with a different PLIC-1 construct confirms that overexpression of PLIC-1 inhibits activation of TRIF dependent IFN-β luc. By flow analysis it was observed increased amount of PLIC-1 decreased TRIF protein. In this experiment TRIAD3A was used as a positive control known to degrade TRIF [62]. From the flow data it was confirmed that PLIC-1 degrades TRIF and eventually inhibits IFN-β as well as NF-κB production. RNAi constructs were made, and the optimal RNAi and amounts required were determined by western blot. RNAi against position 819 and 1602 worked best compared to the others. When the RNAi was used to deplete endogenous PLIC-1, a reporter assay showed that due to the knock down of endogenous PLIC-1 with RNAi, TRIF-dependent IFN  $\beta$  luc was further induced. The same experiment was performed on the mouse macrophage

cell line J774. The same inhibition of TRIF-dependent IFN- $\beta$  was observed. Taken together, these preliminary data suggest that PLIC-1 is a negative regulator of TRIF-mediated pathways.

# 5.0 FUTURE WORK

The following works could be performed in the future :

1. Mouse RNAi will be used to make retrovirus and to transduce J774 macrophage cells to knock down endogenous PLIC-1, so that the production of IFN- $\beta$  could be monitored by ELISA

2. A Phagocytosis assay will be performed to show whether there is any effect in phagocytosis due to the interaction of these two proteins.

3. IP and western blot will be performed to know whether TRIF interacts with PLIC-1.

4. An immunofluorescence study will be performed to show the co-localization of these two proteins.

# BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. Akira S, Takeda K and Kaisho T (2001) Toll-like receptors: critical proteins linking innate and acquired immunity. Nat. Immunol. 2: 675–680.

2. Takeda K, Kaisho T, Akira S. Toll-like receptors. Annu Rev Immunol2003; 21:335-76.

3. Miyake K. Endotoxin recognition molecules, Toll-like receptor 4-MD-2. Semin Immunol 2004;16:11-6.

4. Medzhitov R. Toll-like receptors and innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 2001;1:135-45.

5.Medzhitov, R., and C Janeway, Jr. innate immune recognition: mechanisms and pathways Immunol Rev 2000 173:89-97.

6. Donald N Cook, David S Pisetsky & David A Schwartz Toll-like receptors in the pathogenesis of human disease Nature Immunology 975-979.

7. Hoffmann JA (2003) The immune response of Drosophila. Nature 426:33–38.

8. Takeda K and Akira S (2005) Toll-like receptors in innate immunity. Int.Immunol. 17: 1–14.

9. Takeuchi O, Hoshino K, Kawai T, Sanjo H, Takada H, Ogawa T, Takeda K and Akira S (1999) Differential roles of TLR2 and TLR4 in recognition of gram-negative and gram-positive bacterial cell wall components. Immunity 11: 443–451.

10. Takeuchi O, Kaufmann A, Grote K, Kawai T, Hoshino K, Morr M, Muhlradt PF and Akira S (2000) Preferentially the R-stereoisomer of the mycoplasmal lipopeptide macrophage-activating lipopeptide-2 activates immune cells through a toll-like receptor 2- and MyD88-dependent signaling pathway. J. Immunol. 164: 554–557.

11. Takeuchi O, Sato S, Horiuchi T, Hoshino K, Takeda K, Dong Z, Modlin RL and Akira S (2002) Role of Toll-like receptor 1 in mediating immune response to microbial lipoproteins. J. Immunol. 169: 10–14.

12. Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Muhlradt PF, Morr M, Radolf JD, Zychlinsky A, Takeda K and Akira S (2001) Discrimination of bacterial lipoproteins by Toll-like receptor. Int. Immunol. 13: 933–940.

13. Ozinsky A, Underhill DM, Fontenot JD, Hajjar AM, Smith KD, Wilson CB, Schroeder L and Aderem A (2000) The repertoire for pattern recognition of pathogens by the innate immune system is defined by cooperation between toll-like receptors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97: 13766–13771.

14. Alexopoulou L, Holt AC, Medzhitov R and Flavell RA (2001) Recognition of doublestranded RNA and activation of NF-kappaB by Toll-like receptor 3. Nature 413: 732–738.

15. Hoshino K, Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Sanjo H, Ogawa T, Takeda Y, Takeda K and Akira S (1999) Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-deficient mice are hyporesponsive to lipopolysaccharide: evidence for TLR4 as the Lps gene product. J. Immunol. 162: 3749–3752.

16. Hayashi F, Smith KD, Ozinsky A, Hawn TR, Yi EC, Goodlett DR, Eng JK, Akira S, Underhill DM and Aderem A (2001) The innate immune response to bacterial flagellin is mediated by Toll-like receptor 5. Nature 410: 1099–1103.

17. Hemmi H, Kaisho T, Takeuchi O, Sato S, Sanjo H, Hoshino K, Horiuchi T, Tomizawa H, Takeda K and Akira S (2002) Small anti-viral compounds activate immune cells via the TLR7 MyD88-dependent signaling pathway. Nat. Immunol. 3: 196–200.

18. Diebold SS, Kaisho T, Hemmi H, Akira S and Reis e Sousa C (2004) Innate antiviral responses by means of TLR7-mediated recognition of single-stranded RNA. Science 303: 1529 1531.

19. Heil F, Hemmi H, Hochrein H, Ampenberger F, Kirschning C, Akira S, Lipford G, Wagner H and Bauer S (2004) Species-specific recognition of single-stranded RNA via toll-like receptor 7 and 8. Science 303: 1526–1529.

20. Hemmi H, Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Kaisho T, Sato S, Sanjo H, Matsumoto M, Hoshino K, Wagner H, Takeda K and Akira S (2000) A Toll-like receptor recognizes bacterial DNA. Nature 408: 740–745.

21. Krug A, French AR, Barchet W, Fischer JA, Dzionek A, Pingel JT, Orihuela MM, Akira S, Yokoyama WM and Colonna M (2004) TLR9-dependent recognition of MCMV by IPC and DC generates coordinated cytokine responses that activate antiviral NK cell function. Immunity 21: 107–119.

22. Poltorak, A. *et al.* Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene(1998. Genetic evidence links LPS responsiveness to TLR4 *Science* 282, 2085–2088).

23. Wright, S. D., Ramos, R. A., Tobias, P. S., Ulevitch, R. J. & Mathison, J. C. (1990)CD14, a receptor for complexes of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and LPS binding protein. Science 249, 1431–1433.

24. Shimazu, R. *et al.* (1999). MD-2, a molecule that confers lipopolysaccharide responsiveness on Toll-like receptor 4. *J. Exp. Med.* **189**, 1777–1782.

25. Structural complementarity of Toll/interleukin-1 receptor domains in Toll-like receptors and the adaptors Mal and MyD88. J Biol Chem. 2003 Oct 17;278(42):41443-51.

26.Aderem, A. & Ulevitch, 2001, R.J. Toll-like receptors in the induction of the innate immune response. *Nature* 406, 782–787.

27. Kawai T, Adachi O, Ogawa T, Takeda K, Akira S. Unresponsiveness of MyD88-deficient mice to endotoxin. Immunity 1999;11:115.

28. Suzuki N, Suzuki S, Yeh WC. IRAK-4 as the central TIR signaling mediator in innate immunity. Trends Immunol 2002;23:503-6.

29. Kobayashi K, Hernandez LD, Galan JE, Janeway Jr. CA, Medzhitov R and Flavell RA (2002) IRAK-M is a negative regulator of Toll-like receptor signaling. Cell 110: 191–202.

30. Chen, Z.J. (2005). Ubiquitin signalling in the NF-κB pathway ,Nat. Cell Biol. 7, 758–765.

31Takaoka A, Yanai H, Kondo S, Duncan G, Negishi H, Mizutani T, Kano SI, Honda K, Ohba Y, Mak TW and Taniguchi T (2005) Integral role of IRF-5 in the gene induction programme activated by Toll-like receptors. Nature 434: 243–249.

32. Akira S, Takeda K. Toll-like receptor signalling. Nat Rev Immunol 2004; 4:499-511.

33. Cusson-Hermance N, Lee TH, Fitzgerald KA and Kelliher MA (2005) Rip1 mediates the Trif-dependent toll-like receptor 3 and 4-induced NF-kappa B activation but does not contribute to IRF-3 activation. J. Biol. Chem. 280: 36560–36566.

34. Arbour, N.C. *et al.* TLR4 mutations are associated with endotoxin hyporesponsiveness in humans. *Nat. Genet.* **25**, 187–191 (2000).

35. Agnese, D.M. *et al.* Human Toll-like receptor 4 mutations but not CD14 polymorphisms are associated with an increased risk of Gram-negative infections. *J. Infect. Dis.* **186**, 1522–1525 (2002).

36.Child, N.J. *et al.* Polymorphisms in Toll-like receptor 4 and the systemic inflammatory response syndrome. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* **31**, 652–653 (2003).

37. Picard, C. *et al.* Pyogenic bacterial infections in humans with IRAK-4 deficiency. *Science* **299**, 2076–2079 (2003).

38. Smahi, A. *et al.* Genomic rearrangement in NEMO impairs NF-κB activation and is a cause of incontinentia pigmenti. The International Incontinentia Pigmenti (IP) Consortium. *Nature* **405**, 466–472 (2000).

39. Kiechl, S. *et al.* Toll-like receptor 4 polymorphisms and atherogenesis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 347, 185–192 2002.

40. Kobayashi K, Hernandez LD, Galan JE, Janeway Jr. CA, Medzhitov R and Flavell RA (2002) IRAK-M is a negative regulator of Toll-like receptor signaling. Cell 110: 191–202.

41. Tsung-Hsien *et al*, 2004Triad3A, an E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase regulating Toll-like receptors, NatureImmunology, 5,495-502.

42. Sweet, M.J. et al. A novel pathway regulating lipopolysaccharide-induced shock by ST2/T1 via inhibition of Toll-like receptor 4 expression. J. Immunol. 166, 6633–6639 (2001).

43. Mah, A. L., G. Perry, M. A. Smith, and M. J. Monteiro. 2000. Identification of ubiquilin, a novel presenilin interactor that increases presenilin protein accumulation. J. Cell Biol. 151:847-862.

44. Kleijnen MF, Shih AH, The hPLIC proteins may provide a link between the ubiquitination machinery and the proteasome. Mol Cell. 2000 Aug;6(2):409-19.

45. Bedford FK,Kittler JT, GABA(A) receptor cell surface number and subunit stability are regulated by the ubiquitin-like protein Plic-1.Nat Neurosci. 2001 Sep;4(9):908-16.

46. Welchman RL, Gordon C, Mayer RJ.Ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like proteins as multifunctional signals. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2005 Aug;6(8):599-609.

47. Wilkinson KD. Roles of ubiquitinylation in proteolysis and cellular regulation. Annu Rev Nutr. 1995;15:161-89.

48. Rossi S, Loda M. The role of the ubiquitination-proteasome pathway in breast cancer: use of mouse models for analyzing ubiquitination processes. 2003 Breast Cancer Res.;5(1):16-22.

49.Koegl M, Hoppe T, A novel ubiquitination factor, E4, is involved in multiubiquitin chain assembly. Cell. 1999 Mar 5;96(5):635-44.

50.Akira *et al*, Regulation of innate immune responses by Toll-like receptors, Jpn J Infect Dis. 2001 Dec;54(6):209-19.

51.Cutting edge: a novel Toll/IL-1 receptor domain-containing adapter that preferentially activates the IFN-beta promoter in the Toll-like receptor signaling, Yamamoto M *et al*, Nat Immunol. 2003 Feb;4(2):105-6.

52. K. Tanaka, T. Suzuki and T. Chiba, The ligation systems for ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like proteins. *Mol. Cells* **8** (1998), pp. 503–512.

53. Hershko, A., and Ciechanover, A. (1998). The ubiquitin system. Annu. Rev. Biochem., 425–479.

54. Kobayashi, K. *et al.* IRAK-M is a negative regulator of Toll-like receptor signaling. *Cell* **110**, 191–202.

55. Chuang, T. H and R.J Ulevitch. Triad3A, an E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase regulating Toll-like receptors. Nat Immunol 2004. 5:495-502.

56. Kleijnen, M. F., A. H. Shih, P. Zhou, S. Kumar, R. E. Soccio, N. L. Kedersha, G. Gill, and P. M. Howley. 2000. The hPLIC proteins may provide a link between the ubiquitination machinery and the proteasome. Mol. Cell 6:409-419.

57. Wu, A. L., J. Wang, A. Zheleznyak, and E. J. Brown. 1999. Ubiquitin-related proteins regulate interaction of vimentin intermediate filaments with the plasma membrane. Mol. Cell 4:619-625.

58. Yamamoto, M., S. Sato, K. Mori, K. Hoshino, O. Takeuchi, K. Takeda, S. Akira. 2002. Cutting edge: a novel Toll/IL-1 receptor domain-containing adapter that preferentially activates the IFN-<sup>β</sup> promoter in the Toll-like receptor signaling. J. Immunol. 169:6668.

59. Oshiumi, H., M. Matsumoto, K. Funami, T. Akazawa, T. Seya. 2003. TICAM-1, an adaptor molecule that participates in Toll-like receptor 3-mediated interferon-β induction. Nat. Immunol. 4:161.

60. Yamamoto, M., S. Sato, H. Hemmi, K. Hoshino, T. Kaisho, H. Sanjo, O. Takeuchi, M. Sugiyama, M. Okabe, K. Takeda, S. Akira. 2003. Role of adaptor TRIF in the MyD88-independent Toll-like receptor signaling pathway. Science 301:640.

61. Apoptosis Induced by the Toll-Like Receptor Adaptor TRIF Is Dependent on Its Receptor Interacting Protein Homotypic Interaction Motif *William J. Kaiser and Margaret K. Offermann* The Journal of Immunology, 2005, 174: 4942-4952.

62. Triad3A, an E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase regulating Toll-like receptors Tsung-Hsien Chuang & Richard J Ulevitch, Nature Immunology 5, 495 - 502 (2004).